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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 9:16-CV-81316-ROSENBERG/BRANNON
CYNTHIA A. GREIG,
Plaintiff,
V.
BACKER ABOUD
POLIAKOFF & FOB.STER, LLP,
andKEITH F. BACKER,

Defendans.
/

ORDER MEMORIALIZING RULING ON DEFENDANT S’ MOTION TO DISMISS

THIS CAUSE camebefore the Court upobefendarg’ Rule 12(b)6) Motion to Dismiss
Counts | and Il of Second Amended Class Action Complaint [DE 26]. Having considered
Defendants’ Motion, Plaintiff's Response thereto [DE 32], and Defendantsy [Regl 34], and
having heard argument during a hearing held November 7, 2016, the Court granted Défendants
Motion and dismissed Counts | and Il of Plaintiffs Second Amended Class Action Gaimpla
[DE 20] with prejudice SeeDE 36. The reasons for that ruling were stated on the record during
the hearing. The Court now issuesstlvritten order memorializing its ruling and the reasons
therefore.In addition, the Court takes this opportunity to address one additionalrpzed by
Plaintiff in greater detail.

Summary of Plaintiff's Allegations

Plaintiffs Second Amended Classc#ton Complaint [DE 20kontainsthree counts for

violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.@682et seq(the “FDCPA”). In

considering Defendants’ Motion, éiCourt views Plaintiffs Second Amended Class Action
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Compilaint in the light most favorable to Plaintiff and accepts all of Plaintiff's-pleided facts
as trueSeeAm. United Life Ins. Co. v. Martine480 F.3d 1043, 1066 (11th Cir. 2007).

With respect to Counts | and I, Plaintiff alleggnat on May 27, 2016, Defendants
who, according to Plaintiff, wer&lebt collectors” as defined in the FDCPAent a demand
letter to Plaintiff seeking to collect a debt owed to Plaintiffs homeownersced®on. In the
demand letter, Defendants wrote:

Unless, within forty five (45) days after receipt of this notice, you dispute the
validity of the debt claimed, or any portion thereof, the debt claimed will be
assumed by this office to be valid. If you notify this office in writing within the

forty five (45) day period that the debt claimed, or any portion thereof, is
disputed, this office will obtain verification of the debt and a copy of the
verification will be mailed to you.

Count | of Plaintiffs Second Amended Class Action Complaint afi¢igat Defendants
violated15 U.S.C. 81692g(a)(3) and (4), whictequire a debt collector to notify the consumer
that she must dispute the validity of the debt within thirty days after receipt oénoti

Within five days after the initial communication fwi consumer in connection
with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the following
information is contained in the initial communication . . . , send the consumer a
written notice containing-

* % %
(3) a statement that unless the eonsr, within thirty days after receipt of the
notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be
assumed to be valid by the debt collector;
(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within
the thirtyday period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt
collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the
consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the
consumer by the debt collector . . . .

Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants’ demand letter incorrectly stated that Plaintiff
could dispute the validity of the debt within foffiye days, rather than thirty dgyand

thereforeviolated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) and (4).



Count Il of Plaintiff's Second Amended Class Action Complaint alielgat Defendants
violated 15 U.S.C. 81692¢ which prohibits the use of “any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means [by a debt collector] in connection Wwihcollection of any debt.”
Among other conduct, “[tlhe use of any false representation or deceptive means¢bd @oll
attempt to collect any debt or to obtain any information concerning a consuinlates this
section.Seel5 U.S.C. 81692e(10). Plaitff alleges that, because a consumer must dispute the
validity of the debt within thirty days after receipt of notice, Defendatagement that Plaintiff
could dispute the validity of the debt within fofiye days was false and misleading.
Accordingly, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10).

With respect to Count Il (which Defendants have not sotgtismiss), Plaintiff allege
that on July 20, 2016, Defendants sent Plaintiff a letter stating that a claim batiebeeniled
against Plaintiff's property. Plaintiff allegéhat this letter was false and misleading because the
claim of lien had not yet been filed; in fact, the claim of lien was not executed untddise
later and not recorded until nine days later. Adouagly, Plaintiff allege that Defendants
violated 15 U.S.C. 8692¢e(10). In additiorRlaintiff alleges thatthe claim of lien filed against
Plaintiff's property dd not reflect the $880.00 payment made by Plaintiff on July 22, 2016.

Summary of the Arguments

The primary argumentsisa in Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Counts | and Il may be
summarized as followsFirst, Defendants argue thatuliple courts have determined that
correspondence providing additional time for a consumer to dispute the validityebftt @oes
not violate the FDCPASee, e.g.Gestenv. Phelan Hallinan,PLC, 57 F. Supp. 3d 1381, 1385
(S.D. Fla. 2014); Warran v. Smith Debnam Narron Drake Saintsing & Myers, ,LNB. 7:10

CV-71BO0O, 2011 WL 10858230, at *4 (E.D.N.C. Apr. 4)11).Second, Defendants argtieat



Plaintiff's position requires an absurd interpretation of the FDCPA that wouldipergdbt
collectors for granting consumers additional time to assert their statutgms.rThird,
Defendand argue that athing in Ddendants’ letter culd be read by even the least sophisticated
consumer to allow Plaintiffess thanthirty days to dispute the validity of the deBourth,
Defendants argue that their demand letter corspath Florida Statutes section 720.3085(4)(a),
which requires a homeowners’ association to provide the owner with at leadtviertiays after
the date notice is depositedtire mail to make payment for all amounts diaally, Defendants
argue that there v8ano allegation that Defendants would not have honored the extended deadline
for Plaintiff to dispute the validity of the debt.

In response, Plaintiff argaefirst that wder the plain language of the FDCPA,
Defendants cannot give Plaintiff more time to exercise her statutory right®@ngumer is
entitled to certain statutory protections only if she disputes the validity afeiieand requests
verification within thirty days. Second, Plaintiff arguethat the Eleventh CircuiCourt of
Appeals hafound an FDCPA violation where the statement from the debt collectors omitted
§1692g(a)(4)’s requirement that the consumer notify the debt collector “in Wriiagthe debt
is disputed, despite the debt collectors’ argument on appeal that they had sinvely that
requirementSee Bishop v. Ross Earle & Bonan, P&L7 F.3d 1268, 1274 (11th Cir. 2016)
(“We reject the notion th& 1692ggives debt collectors discretion tamit the ‘in writing’
requirement or cure improper notice by claiming waiver. The statute is Tleadebt collector
‘shall’ notify the consumer of her right to dispute the debt in writing. Likeviiseconsumer has
a right to verification only if sheisputes the debt in writingNothing in the statute suggests that
debt collectors have discretion to relax these requirements.”) (in@taabn omitted).Third,

Plaintiff argue that inClark v. Butler & Hosch, P.Acase no. 2:14v-14183,the undersigned



denied the debt collector's motion to dismiss where the consumer alleged that the debt
collector’'s statement had omitted1892g(a)(5)’'s requirement that the consumer submit a
“written” request for the name and address of the original creditor. In thatlcaskebt collector
had argued that its omission of the requirement that the request be writtey gioydtied the
consumer with additional rights because the debt collector would have honored eithégra writ
or oral requestFourth, Paintiff argues that thecases cited by Defendardee distinguishable
from the instant case because those cases invelwa@ssivéetters, each of which included the
statement that the consumer was required to dispute the debt tmthyrdays while the instant
case involves a single letter stating that the consumer could dispute the debt avithfive
days.Fifth, Plaintiff argus that tre lone case cited by Defendants that also inebdvesingle
letter stating that the consumer could disputedilgt within fortyfive days is not binding on
this Court and should not be followeginally, Plaintiff argus that Defendants cannot rewrite
the FDCPA just to comport with Florida Statutes section 720.3085(4)(a).

In their Reply, Defendants argue first tlBashopandClark are distinguishable from the
instant case because, in the instant case, Defendants’ demand letter did not ors@ryneces
information or curtail Plaintiff's rights. Defendants’ demand letter adviB&ntiff of the
distinct rights triggeed by a verbal dispute and a written dispute and clearly offered rights
beyond those guaranteed by the FDCB&eMacy v. GC Servs. Ltd. P’shiplo. 3:15CV-819-

DJH, 2016 WL 5661525, at *5 (W.D. Ky. Sept. 29, 2016). Defendants are not seeking to
retroactvely recast 8692g omissions as an implicit extensioinrights. Second, Defendants
arguethat Plaintiff asserts that consumers are stripped of statutory protectionsy itlthaot
dispute the debt within thirty days, even if the debt collector has provided additioealTtis

position is inconsistent with the cases cited by DefendBitally, Defendants argue, again, that



even the least sophisticated consumer would not have been misled as to her statusoby right
Defendants’ extension of the deadline to dispute the debt.
Summary of Applicable Law

To adequatelyleada claim for relief, Rule 8(a)(2)requires‘a shortandplain statement
of the claim showingthat the pleaderis entitledto relief.” Fed.R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2).Under Rule
12(b)(6), a motion to dismiss should begrantedonly if the plaintiff is unableto articulate
“enoughfactsto statea claim to relief thatis plausible onits face.” Bell Atl. Corp.v. Twombly
550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)‘A claim hasfacial plausibility when the pleadedfactual content
allows the courtto draw the reasonablmferencethat the defendanis liable for the misconduct
alleged.” Ashcroftv. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 663 (2009jciting Twombly 550U.S. at 556). When
determiningwhethera claim hasfacial plausibility, “a court mustview a complaintin thelight
most favorabldo the plaintiff andacceptall of the plaintiff's well-pleadedfacts as true.” Am.
UnitedLife Ins. Co.v. Martinez 480 F.3d 1043, 106@ 1th Cir. 2007).

However, the court need not take allegationsas true if they are merely “threadbare
recitalsof a causeof action’selementssupportedoy mere conclusorystatements.’Igbal, 556
U.S.at 663.“Mere labelsand conclusions or éormulaicrecitationof the elementsof acauseof
action will not do, and a plaintiff cannotrely on nakedassertions devoid durther factual
enhancement.Franklin v. Curry, 738 F.3d 1246, 1251 (11tir. 2013).“[l]f allegationsare
indeed more conclusorythan factual, then the court does nothave to assumetheir truth.”
Chaparrov. Carnival Corp, 693 F.3d 1333, 1337 (11@ir. 2012).In sum,“[t]he plausibility
standard‘calls for enoughfact to raise a reasonableexpectationthat discoverywill reveal
evidence’of the defendant’sability.” Miyahirav. Vitacost.cominc., 715 F.3d 1257, 1265 (11th

Cir. 2013) (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 556). Where it appearsthat a plaintiff has no



cognizableclaim and any attemptsto amendwould be futile, dismissalwith prejudiceis
appropriateSeeCoburnv. Gonzalez141F. Supp. 3d 1339, 1343%.D.Fla. 2015).
The Court must apply thigeneralframework in conjunctionwith the specific legal
principles appltableto FDCPA claims.
To establisha claim under theFDCPA, the plaintiff must show'(1) the plaintiff
has beenthe object ofcollection activity arising from consumer debt(2) the
defendanis a debtcollectorasdefinedby the FDCPA, and(3) the deferdanthas
engagedn anactor omission prohibitetdy theFDCPA.”
Gesterv. Phelan HallinanPLC, 57F. Supp. 3d 1381, 138%.D.Fla.2014) (quoting®escatrice
v. Orovitz, 539F. Supp. 2d 1375, 1378.D. Fla. 2008)).In the instantase,the partiesdo not
disputethat Defendantsare debtcollectorsattemptingto collecta consumer delftom Plaintiff.
At issueis whetherDefendants havengagedn anactor omissionprohibitedby the FDCPA.
The FDCPA, in relevant part, requires a debt collector to include certain
informationin its first communicationsvith a debtorandto refrain from certain
practices.Specifically, “[w]ithin five daysafter theinitial communicatiorwith a
consumerin connectionwith the collection of any debt, adebt collector
shall. . .sendtheconsumeiawritten notice containing . . . statementhatunless
the consumenyithin thirty daysafterreceiptof the notice,disputes thealidity of

the debt, oany portionthereof,the debtwill be assumedo bevalid by the debt
collector.”

Gesten 57 F. Supp. 3dat 1385 (quoting 15 U.S.C. 8 1692g(a)(3)). addition, thestatement
mustinform the consumefthat if the consumenotifies the debtcollectorin writing within the
thirty-day periodthat the debt, oany portion thereofjs disputed, the deldollectorwill obtain
verification of the debt or acopy of a judgmentagainstthe consumerand a copy of such
verification or judgmentwill be mailed to the consumeby the debt collector.” 15 U.S.C.
8 1692¢g(a)(4) In all cases,a debtcollector ‘may not useany false, deceptive,or misleading
representatioor meansin connectionwith the collectionof any debt.” Gesten 57 F. Supp. 3d

at 1385 (quoting 1%J.S.C.8 1692e).



“In theEleventhCircuit, whethercommunicationso a consumerun afoul of theFDCPA
is typically decidedunder théleastsophisticateaconsumerstandard.'Gesten57F. Supp. 3dhat
1385(citing Jeterv. Credit Bureau)nc., 760F.2d 1168, 1177 n.11 (11tGir. 1985)). ‘Theleast
sophisticatecconsumeican be presumedo possessa rudimentary amount @fiformationabout
theworld andawillingnessto reada collectionnoticewith somecare.However,thetesthasan
objective componenin that [w]hile protecting naive consumers, tiséandardalso prevents
liability for bizarreor idiosyncratianterpretationf collection noticesby preservinga quotient
of reasonablenessl’eBlancv. Unifund CCR Partners 601 F.3d 1185, 1194 (11tir. 2010)
(internalquotationmarksandcitationsomitted).

The effectivenes®f avalidationnotice under 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692g({spbjectivein nature
and is thereforedeterminedas a matter of law, particularly where no jury demandhas been
made.Seeln re Hathcock 437 B.R. 696, 701 (BankrM.D. Fla. 2010) (citing In re Martinez
266B.R. 523, 533(Bankr.S.D.Fla.)). Similarly, “whetherthe Plaintiff allegesfactssufficientto
statea claim under 8§ 1692¢s alegal question for the Court.Coburn 141 F. Supp. 3dat 1342
(quoting Miljkovic v. Shafritzand Dinkin,P.A, 791 F.3d 1291, 1307—-08 11 (11thCir. 2015)).

The Court’s Ruling

As the Court noted otherecordat the conclusion of theearingheld November7, 2016,

multiple courts havaleterminedhat successiveorrespondence providing additional time for a

consumer to dispute the validity of a debt does not violate the FDCPA. Defendants cite

numerous examples at pagethfough8 of their Motion to Dismiss. For example, Gestenv.
Phelan Hallinan,PLC, 57 F. Supp. 3d 1381S.D. Fla. 2014), the courtoncludedthat serding
two lettersinforming the consumer of thhirty-day periodo dispute thevalidity of thedebt did

notviolatetheFDCPA:



Defendant'ssecondletter is not inconsistentvith the thirty-day periodthat the

FDCPA allows Plaintiff to dispute the debif anything,the secondetter grants
Plaintiff additional time to do so: thedifference betweenthirty days from

Plaintiff's recapt of the secondletter and thirty daysfrom Plaintiff's receiptof

thefirst. Eachletter stateghat Plaintiff may dispute the dehbwithin thirty daysof

his receipt of that letter. Thereis no evidencethat Defendantwould not have
honored this deadlire. Defendant’s required notice was therefore not

overshadowed arontradictedinsteadt wasexpandedndemphasized.

57 F. Supp. 3dat 1386—-87(internalcitation omitted).In a similar case Arendv. Total Recovery
Servs.,Inc., No. 05-CV-3064(DLI)(JMA), 2006 WL 2064977(E.D.N.Y. July 24, 2006), the
court concluded:

8§ 16929 of theFDCPA does not prohibit alebt collector from giving the

consumemore than thirty daysto exercisehis right to obtainvalidation of the

debt.lIt is neitherdeceitfulnor false,evento theleastsophisticateadonsumerfor

Defendantto offer Plaintiff additional time to exercise his right to obtain

validationof the debt.

2006 WL 2064977 at *3 (citing Brenkerv. Creditors Interchangelnc., No. 03 CIV.6500LTS
DFE, 2004WL 594502 at *2 (S.D.N.Y.Mar. 25, 2004));seealsoMontgomerw. TridentAsset
Mgmt., L.L.C, No. 15-6617(MAS) (LHG), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62672,at *2—3; Paige V.
WaukeshaHealth Sys.,Inc., No. 12-C-0601, 2013NL 3560944,at *9 (E.D. Wis. July 11,
2013)).

In addition, undefacts strikingly similar to thosepresentedy the instantase,at least
one courthasdeterminedhatasingleletterinforming consumers that they had foftye days to
dispute and request verification of the debt did not violate the FDGBAWarran v. Smith
Debnam Narron Drake Saintsing & Myers, LLRo. 7:10CV-71B0O, 2011 WL 10858230, at
*4 (E.D.N.C. Apr. 19, 2011). In that case, the court explained:

Plaintiffs assert that the statut@&6-day time frame is not only a floor, but is also

a ceiling.. . .Even assuming that Plaintiffs’ interpretation aligns with the statute’s

plain meaning, this interpretation is nothing less than absurd. Plaintiffs’

interpretation perverts both the inteantd purpose of the FDCPA. The FDCPA
seeks to protect debtors from collectors undermining their rights. Defendants



cannot be penalized for giving debtors more time to assert their rights than the
statute provided.

Warran 2011 WL 10858230, at *3 (internaitation omitted). In reaching that conclusion, the
court noted that “nothing in the Defendants’ letter [could] be read by even thedehistisated
consumer to appliess thana 30 day period for verification or dispute of the DebVarran,
2011 WL 10858230, at *4. The court ultimately dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims dadetS.C.
§ 1692g(apnd15 U.S.C. § 1692e(1®)r failure to stateaclaim.

This Court adopts the reasonirsgt forth in such casesas Warran and Gestenand
concludeghat Counts | andl of Plaintiffs SecondAmendedClassAction Complaint should be
dismissedfor failure to statea claim. Becauseany further amendmentwvould befutile, these
claimsaredismissedwith prejudice.

In particular, the Court otes first that Defendants’demand letter clearly provided
Plaintiff with an additionalfifteen daysbeyondthe statutorilyrequiredthirty dayswithin which
to dispute thevalidity of her debtandrequestverification. Second, nothingn thedemandetter
restrictedPlaintiff’'s statutoryrights. Thereis nothingto suggesthat Defendantsvould nothave
honored theextensionof time grantedin the demandetter. Third, even the leassophisticated
consumer would not have been misled by Defendants’ demand Fetteth, Faintiff’'s assertion
that consumers are stripped of statutory protections under the FDCPA if they dlspubdé¢ the
debt within thirty days, even if the debt collector has provided additional timetes@u absurd
interpretation of the statutory language and is inconsistent with cases perihttincollectors
to provide additional time to consumeFsnally, BishopandClark (on which Plaintiff relies) are
distinguishable fronthe instant cas&ee, e.gMacy v. GC Servs. Ltd. P’shiplo. 3:15€V-819-
DJH, 2016 WL 5661525, at *5 (W.D. Ky. Sept. 29, 2016pting the important distinction

between a debt collector's aftdrefact attempt to explain deviation from statutory netic
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requirements as an offer of additional rights, a8ishop and Clark, and a debt collector’s
explicit offer of additional rights in the demand letter itself, as in the instant case)

Plaintiff’'s Hypothetical Case

Finally, the Court takes this opportunity to address Plaintiff's argumentitigihd no
violation of the FDCPA in the instant case would mean desdtorshave no recourse under a
particular set of facts not present heRtaintiff argues that a hypothedl debtor who has
received a demand letter such as the one Plaintiff received in the instant case maytattemp
exercise hestatutory rightsafter the 3éday period afforded by the FDCPA, but within the 45
day period afforded by the debt collectortsiddemand letter, only to find that thelat collector
refuses to honor the extension of time offered in its demand letter. In such, &Pleastff
argues, the conclusidhata debt collectohas not violated the FDCPA by stating in the demand
letter that the debtohad 45 days within which to exercise her statutory rights leaves that debtor
without any legal remedy. While such a case does indeed raise seriounigotheeCourt notes
that thishypothetical situations not before the Court in the instant case. Any such concerns
arising from factghat are nopresentlybefore the Court are for another case and should not be
addressed by this Court in this case.
Accordingly, it iSORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows:
1. Defendats’ Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss Counts | and Il of Second Amended
Class Action Complaint [DE 26$ GRANTED.

2. Counts | and Il oPlaintiff's Second Amended Class Acti@omplaint [DE20] are
DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE .

3. Count Il of Plaintiffs Second Amended Class Action Complaint remains pgndi

The parties shall attend an early mediatignno later tharMonday, February 6,

11



2017 unless a settlement has been reached and a notice of settlement has been filed
with the Court prior to that dat&eeDE 39.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers, Fort Pierce, Florida, ttth day of January

2017.
Copies furnished to: OBIN L. ROSENBERG
Counsel of ecord UNITED STATES DISTRICT JURGE
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